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UR old English villages, despite the inevitable changes which Time

brings. almost always retain some pleasant reminders of their past.
The more one knows about where one lives, the more one respects
what past generations have left to us.

In the following pages the gradual evolution of a Sussex village is
portrayed. Emerging from the dense forest of the Weald it managed
to establish a scattered community, which the Tudor activities fused
into a general whole.

Hadlow Down is a road-side or linear village with no ancient church
or manor round which an historian can weave a tale of substance, but
much has been unearthed, as the following pages clearly show, to
enable those who live in it to realise its value in these changing days.
In particular, its old buildings, tinctured by time, are something to
treasure.

| commend the knowledge and perception shown by Mr. Barrett in
the study of the village of Hadlow Down, and hope that everyone who
lives in or near it will possess a copy of this little work for their

instruction and enjoyment.
TMM A ’L -




Part one
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HE traveller, going through Buxted into Hadlow Down. would not

realise that the village and its people mostly lie on the two slopes
of a sharply defined Ridge running east to west. From the lanes run-
ning at right angles can be seen some of those magnificent views which
form part of our Sussex heritage. Down Wilderness Lane, on the one
side, can be seen across wood and farmland the noble grandeur of the
Firle Beacon Ridge. On the other side, whether down School, Wag-
horn or Wheeler’s Lane, Crowborough Heights dominate the scene.
Whether seen through hazy mist dappled with sunlight, or snow-
capped in winter sending down north winds, they make an attractive
background.

It is in these lanes, with their many springs, that the village wealth
originated and Hadlow Down history took shape. The Ridge was in
early daysonly anincidental. Asa collective community, Hadlow Down
is young compared with villages having roots going back to Norman,
or even earlier, times. The church is often the origin of a village, the
houses clustering round it; but here there
does not appear to have been even a prim-
itive building. Why ? The reason is that
for centuries this area was just a wilder-
ness, a tangle of forest and scrub. The
Romans had no iron workings here, al-
though scraps of Roman pottery and other
small relics have been unearthed here and
there. They mined not far away. as Mares-
field had its furnace, pottery and coins of
the Nero period indicating the date. It
seems that not more than ten iron working
sites in the Weald can be designated as
Roman. These are all adjacent to the
tracks by which the products could be

carried to tide-water.

CHARCOAL BURNING AND HUNTING

The Weald must have remained a land apart. * With the end of
Roman rule it relapsed for a time into the remoteness and isolation of
its prehistoric days ''. Charcoal burners were probably the only occu-
piers at the outset of any clearances. Royalty and the great nobles had
their summer hunting lodges. Swine pastures emerged. Wolves would
certainly be lurking in the denser parts. Clearances began long before
the Congquest; and bit by bit settlements like Hadlow Down appeared.
These gradual clearances prepared the way for just minor settlements,
and the single farmstead dominated this area.

As to the origin of the name, the scribes in 1254 spelt it Hadle(gh).
In the " Place Names of Sussex "', that great scholarly work, it is sug-
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AN INTERIOR
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STOCKLANDS FARMHOUSE
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CROWPITS—early 17th century timbered, which the hung tiles
hide. Within much of the old timber remains, both on the ground
floor and above. Recently re-arranged internally.

CURTAINS HILL FARMHOUSE—early 17th century timber-
fcamed house. Fronted with red brick on ground floor. Tiled above.

FIVE CHIMNEYS—16th century. Re-fronted with red brick. Good
timbering within. Central stone chimney with five shafts.

The Wealden chimney at its best is an imposing testimony to the
prosperity of Elizabethan and Jacobean life.

e

HASTINGFORD

HASTINGFORD—16th or early 17th timber-framed house, origin-

ally a farmhouse. Recently skilfully restored. On ashlar base. Fram-
ing fully exposed. The old oak is now shown in its silvery grey, which,
in the eyes of many, is preferred to the more frequent blackening.

The reconstruction work showed that the house was basically a
“hall house . The position of the fire before the chimney was built
was found, with thickly soot-encrusted rafters telling their tale. It may
well be that this part goes back to the [3th or 14th century.

H.storicaL Nott. The name Hasting is of great interest. It occurs elsewhere in
the county, and can be as-ociated with an early tribe of selllers in Southern Eng-
land. The Anglo-Saxon Chronicle (1011 A.D.) asserts that the Danes harried all the
Hastingas south of the Thames. It may have been at the ford here that they made
a stand on their retreat inland. Haslingford is mentioned in an Assize Roll of 1279.
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gested that this means “ Headda’s Clearing”’. If so, an Anglo-Saxon
pioneer staked the first claim to a bit of Hadlow Down earth. The
spelling varies with the whim of the scribe over the centuries. It was
Hadelegh in 1281, Hadledowne in 1333 (when the down appears) and
Hadlydowne in 1543. “Our ridge”’, by the way, along which the
village later spread itself is at the western extremity of the elevation
geologically known as the Battle Ridge. At the crossroads near the
present church was Hadley (old spelling) Beacon, commanding a
panoramic view all round. This uninterrupted view would confirm the
old tradition that the Beacon was one of the Armada beacons (1588).
How did Hadley come to acquire the “r’" which occurs in the well-
known map of Morden’s engraved in 1610. The old cartographers
were notoriously shaky over their spellings. Perhaps a local person., in
giving information, pronounced the word broadly as “ah’’, and not
with the short “a’’, and so the “r’" crept in. However, the spelling
does not affect the present magnificent view across the Weald to the
South Downs.

The manorial system, as expanded by the Normans, was meticu-
lous in recording all tenancies and their holders. These records give
personal touches to this village when the manorial “rolls”’ are exam-
ined. The same applies to old assize and subsidy rolls. To take three
examples—at HOLE FARM was recorded one *“ Symon atte Hole ” in
1332; COLES HALL can be associated with the family of Simon Cole
(1327), and TINKER'S LANE with John Tynker (1437). It is com-

forting to feel that these familiar names go back so far into history.

Hadlow Down had no manor of its own, most of it forming at these
early days part of Mayfield, which had no fewer than eight small
manors, while Buxted had seven. To disentangle the history of this
village is no small task.

Life seems to have passed uneventfully during the Middle Ages;

but when the Tudors arrived the area awakened with a sense of being
on the threshold of a “New Order . Henry the Eighth caused the stir.

Most people probably form their judgment of Henry the Eighth
from Holbein's portrait which depicts the grossness of his later years.
but his earlier years showed quite a different character. Henry was
barely nineteen when he succeeded to the Throne. He was univer-
sally liked for his frank and generous personality. His prowess at
hunting, archery and all sports, including wrestling, was as approv-
ingly looked upon as they would be in 1970. He was more than an
athlete, for he was a musician, poet and author; also, a trained
theologian, and proud of that knowledge, entering the lists on the
theological plane whether against Luther or tough cardinals. It
remains to add that he was an enthusiastic supporter of the New
[.earning, being a devotee of Erasmus.

7

THE TUDOR PERIOD—CANNON FOR THE NAVY

Henry the Eighth had decided views on the value of sea power. It
was not long after his accession that, despite his involvement in
tournaments, hunting and other delights, he started building up fight-
ing ships. That meant cannon. The Continent had become the main
producer of these weapons, and Henry was obliged to import from
that source. He soon—in 1513—began to import instructors to train
his subjects in the art of casting. The ironstone was at hand in mid-
Surrey, Sussex and the western end of Kent. Springs abounded for the
water wheels; and gradually this central belt became the industrial
area of England. By 1548 there were 53 iron mills and foundries at
work. The industry reached its peak in Elizabeth’s reign, when about
7,000 persons are calculated to have been employed. It is hard in
these days to picture the smoking furnaces, the hammering and the
bustle that went on. Hear what William Camden said in his * Britan-

nia”’ (1610)—

“Full of iron mines it is in sundry places, where for the mak-
ing and fining thereof there bee furnaces on every side, and a
hugh deale of wood is yearly spent, to which purpose divers
brookes in many places are brought to runne in one channell,
and sundry medows turned into pooles and waters, that they
might be of power sufficient to drive hammer milles, which
beating upon the iron resound all over the places adjoining.”’

What a vivid description. Canden adds “ commodious enough to
the iron Maisters who cast much great ordinance thereof and other
things to their no small gaine.” As to this “gaine’’, more later. It
may be remarked that the so-called mines were not much more than
open pits.

Hadlow Down abounded in springs on both sides of the Ridge, so
there was plenty of water for the hammer ponds. There were three
main works—Huggett’s Furnace, Howbourne and Pounsley, with a
primitive forge at Spood’s.

HUGGETT’S FURNACE was the most important and has old con-

nections. “Place Names’ suggests that the name Huggett can be
associated with the family of John Hoget, whose name appears in a
Court Roll of 1333. This holding would in due course be called Hoget's
Farm. The Furnace appears in an official list of 1574, when it belonged
to Arthur Middleton of Rotherfield. It is also classified in an inquiry
in Elizabeth’s reign on the use of timber for smelting. There is still
much evidence of the old workings; the pits are there, also the remains
of the water mill, while the slag is thickly strewn over a wide area.

HOWBOURNE was a forge. An early reference comes from Chan-
cery Proceedings in 1568 when John Rolfe, plaintiff, and Rober:
Olyffe, defendant, sought “to obtain recompense because divers par-
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cels of iron were taken from an iron mill or forge called Owbourne
Hammer, which the plaintiff and defendant were jointly possessed of.”
The forge was still at work in 1664. Nothing remains to show the
extent of the forge. There have been some excavations in recent
times, when a few Roman remains of no material significance came to
light.

A probable progenitor of this Tudor forge was a bloomery* at the
rear of the present modern farmhouse. Much cinder has been found
here: and recently portions of the old works have been unearthed.

POUNSLEY, at the junction of three parish boundaries, was a con-
siderable furnace. In the 1574 list “ Robert Hodson of Framfield had
Powley or Pounley”’. This furnace had an easy task over its ironstone,
for it lay on the surface all the way up Wilderness Lane (le Wylder-
nesse in a Court Roll of 1547). The ironstone is still very much on the
surface, and the lightning in bad storms has a tendency to skim the
surface where the iron is. The remains of the dam can still be made
out, around which slag seems to have been dug out. Gun Bank field
lies higher up the stream, indicating where they fired the cannon balls
in test checks on the cannon. Balls can still be dug up. The writer has
a good two-pwouncler.

At SPOODS there was an old bloomery which doubtless functioned
until the blast furnace method came in with the Tudors. There is
plenty of evidence of its former existence. The present owner tells me
that he still turns up with the plough substantial “blooms " (lumps of
crude iron). The name is curious. The theory that it is a Latinised
name for a cinder is not credible, because as far back as 1333 it

appears in a Court Roll. It is there spelt Spode.

WHERE DID THE CANNON GO?

How much did the Hadlow Down works produce ? Statistics do
not show, but, with the considerable works at Maresfield and Buxted
to the west and Heathfield to the east, the combined output must have
been considerable. One main problem of the ironmasters was how to
get the finished products to the ports for shipment. Rivers were the
easiest means. In the case of Hadlow Down the Ouse was not far
away. At that time it was navigable up to Lindfield. Newick was pro-
bably the loading base. Great ox-wains dragged the cannon along the

#In pre-history times, and until the Tudors, the smelting of iron was done in one
stage only, the ore being heated with charcoal in beechive-shaped structures. The
crude iron came out in lumps which were called ‘‘ blooms™, and the structures
bloomeries.

Later, the two-stage method of first making ** pigs '’ (oblongs of unforged iron)
in a biast furnace and then forging them into wrought iron completely eliminated
the bloomery process.
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rough trails, on to the barges they went, down the Quse past Barcombe
and Lewes and so to Seaford. There is a section of the Quse near
Barcombe which the Ordnance Survey mark as “the Iron River .
Seaford in early Tudor times was the port for the Ouse valley. In 1575,
after a cloudburst, the river burst its banks and made a new haven for
itself at Meeching. It is reliably stated that after the Medway (which
catered for the dockyards at Chatham and Woolwich) the Ouse was
the most important outlet. The Continent was supplied by this route.
So the products of this area certainly went that way.

How big_ were the guns produced ? The “Tudor Ordnance
covered a wide range, starting with the Robinet of one-inch bore up
to the gigantic Cannon Royal, with a bore of eight inches and weight
8,000 Ibs. There is no record of guns larger than 32-pounders having
been cast round here—perhaps the furnaces were not long enough.
Shot was turned out in large quantities, and in slack times household
accessories such as fire appliances, firebacks and the like were made.

A SUSSEX FIREBACK (A.D. 1636)
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RALPH HOGGE’S INVENTION

A turning point in the ironworks industry came in 1543. Parson
Levitt, Rector of Buxted from 1533 to 1545 and again in 1553, owned
Oldlands Furnace (now in Fairwarp Parish) and had in his employ-
ment a certain Ralph Hogge (variants, Hog, Hoge, Hogg).* He and
a Frenchman, Peter Baud, invented a process by which cannon were
cast in one piece, instead of in two pieces bonded together. This one
invention revolutionised the industry, and gave a boost to all the local
furnaces. It had a more widspread result in that the cannon made in
England had such a market on the Continent that it practically ruined
the industry there.

Incidentally, this form of export was the first step in the change
whereby a nation switched over to manufactured goods. Up till then
our exports had been confined to foodstuffs and raw metals.

It would have evoked pleasant feelings if Hadlow Down could have
proved that Hogge used one of its furnaces for his researches. But
documentary evidence is against it. Thus, in his will, dated 6th _March,_
1554, the Rector of Buxted left “to Ralph Hoge my servant 41 and vi
tonnes of sowes”. A sow was a lump of crude iron. The Rector
would hardly have let a valued servant work at another forge.

It was towards the end of Henry's reign, in 1543, that Hogge found
his new method, but Elizabeth kept her Navy in good trim. G. M.
Trevelyan remarks “ The Royal Navy was Henry's creation and it
saved both himself and his daughter after him when the'),f adof[;?ted an
island policy and defied the Catholic powers of Europe’’. Let’s hope
that a Hadlow Down cannon or two helped in the good work of
defending England.

GUN RUNNING

Not all the cannon reached our dockyards. The Continent pai_d
well for English cannon, and, despite Government frowning on this
trade (the guns might at times be turned against us) and from time to
time prohibiting it, much material crossed in French sloops to the othe_r
side of the Channel. Sussex people hav_e not bwf{en not'ed for their
respect for the law or for “The Establlshmeqt' and its postures,
derived, doubtless, from “the good British tradition of non-conform-

% The Hogge House " still stands in the approach to St. Margaret's Church.

Built of stone, it has the date 1581 on an iron rebus. Hogge was appointe.d in 1573
the ‘* Queen’s Majestie's Gunstone maker of yron’. He qurvived L?Vltt by 30
years—until 1585. His death is recorded in the Buzd,c':d Church Register. ** Mr.
Raphe Hogg was buryd the xiith daye of December 1585 .

Spelt as “*Hogg '’ the name suggests that his contemporaries pronounced it in
the English way, and not in some fancy way like Hogg-é (accentuated) as some
have suggested.

1

ity ””. Those in Holy Orders did not think it unholy to have a finger in
the profitable pie. Often the family vault in the churchyard or the
church tower gave cover. Kipling in “Hal o’ the Draft” gives an
example. In the tower of his Saint Barnabas Church there had been
nicely laid out on straw 27 wicked looking little serpentines and two
demi-cannon, ready to be smuggled out at a convenient time. And
the reward for the Church’s connivance ? “That little church was
re-built, re-roofed and made glorious, thanks to some few godly Sussex
ironmasters.”” “Godly " ? Well . . . . Two centuries later the illicit
traffic was in the opposite direction, and the reward then was *“ Brandy
for the parson, baccy for the clerk.”

THE OPERATORS

The activities of the ironmasters have been recorded at some length
because they made this village. The system worked on this basis. The
large landowners like the Nevills were in it because it provided a
lucrative outlet for their woodlands and minerals. The merchant
bankers in London provided the finance; while management on the
spot came from the local smaller fry. These last, however, developed
into a prosperous middle class whose legacy to us lies in the comfort-
able homes they built for themselves..

The industry carried on long after Tudor times. but the discovery

of coal and iron in close proximity in the North killed it. The last gun
cast in Heathfield was'in 1775.

A LEGACY OF TUDOR BUILDINGS

The wealth brought into this area showed itself in the buildings
which that era has bequeathed to us. The lowly dwellings of the
Middle Ages were being swept away. Between the years 1530 and
1630 the villages of England were practically rebuilt. In particular,
the new middle class could dispense with moats and fortifications and
concentrate on building comfortable houses which made homes much
more cosy than the manor houses of the Middle Ages. The new rich of
Hadlow Down did not lag behind, and have left to us a collection of
buildings of great and varied interest. Nearly all come within the
period mentioned, which may be called the heyday of the timber-
framed house.

What was this timber-framed house ? It was evolved thus—baulks
of timber were laid on low foundation walls, and into these upright
posts were inserted. The panels thus formed were filled in, at first,
with hazel wands cross-woven to form a close hurdling. Later wattle
hurdling was generally used. Daub was applied, and so came the
familiar “ wattle and daub ”’. A coat of lime plaster finished the job.
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These figures represent one-tenth to one-twentieth of the value of
moveables at the homestead. The armour, jewels and robes of the
gentry were not assessable, and the lesser gentry got exemption on
one robe for a man and another for his wife, one ring, one brooch and
one silver drinking cup. The only coin in use was the silver penny
(twelve to the shilling). Silver groats came somewhat later.

The Scottish wars came into the picture again in Henry the Eighth's
reign, when money was wanted when war was declared on France in
1522. ““Lay subsidies”” were levied. In the *“Borough of Mareghfeld’
list was Thomas Hoget, mulcted in the considerable sum of twenty
shillings, and his servant (probably son) John Hoget for one shilling.
Richard Holborne was mulcted in 2s.

Another of those ancient records was the Calendar of Fines. A fine
of those days had nothing to do with a penalty. A fine (finis or finalis
concordia) put an end to all suits and contentions about [reehold
property and the agreement was enrolled in the records of the Court
and governed the transfer of the land thereafter. In short, a Land
Register. In Henry the Sixth's reign (1422 to 1461) there is one entry
relating to this parish. It reads—

3074. John HOGET and Richard ATTEWODE v. John
KENEWARD of Mayfield and Julian his wife; a messuage,

40 acres of land, 20 acres of pasture in Mayfield—to John and
Richard and heirs of John HOGET.

The Sussex Record Society in Vol. 14 of their publications record
for the whole of Sussex the post mortem inquisitions (judicial investi-
gations) between 1485 and 1649. In the case of John Fuller who died
on 20th May, 1616, it is recorded that he had lands called “Dudsland ™’
and “Coleshall”. Thomas Morley who died on 9th January, 1559,
held, amongst other lands “Chilhope '’ that is the present Gill Hope.
“Le Mote ™ is mentioned in connection with the deaths of Richard
Heath (1620) and Richard Maynard (1632), but these probably relate
to what is now Moat Farm to the south of Mayfield.

There have also come down to us Churchwardens' Presentments.
These were returns which churchwardens were under obligation to
“ exhibit "’ to the diocesan authorities at certain times, when the oppor-
tunity was taken of reporting sinning parishioners. In this area the
Day family got into trouble. Mary Day, the wife of Richard Day, was
reported “for not comeing to church to here divine service and ser-
mon’'. In the nearby Buxted Edward Borage was indited “for not
haveing his daughter of the age of 16 vears baptised, and refuseth to
receive baptism.”’ The dates were 1674 to 1676. What the punish-
ments were are doubtless embedded in diocesan records. In really
rural areas defaulters must have been treated with a light hand in view
of the difficulties of transport. Hadlow Down’s scattered community
would have had to struggle to either Mayfield Parish Church or St.
Margaret's, Buxted.
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It is of interest that Domesday Book, 1088 A.D., contains no refer-
ence to Mayfield, which would have covered Hadlow Down. This
seems strange, as in Anglo-Saxon times it was a sizetable.settlement.
The most likely explanation is that the Danes in one of their numerous
raids had destroyed it. and nothing of value remained. William the
Congqueror's agents did not miss much. !

Domesday has only one record of iron in the Weald—"“a mine of
iron in East Grinstead belonging to Ansfride”. “Una ferraria™ are
the actual words. : .

Finally, a flashback to one hundred years ago. ““ Huggett's Furnace
is the only house where I have tasted the ancient British beverage
mead, which Mrs. Allcorn [wife of the occupier] possessed the recipe
for making. She was famed for the lightness and delicacy of her
“flead cakes .

(Glimpses of Rural Life in Sussex by Alice C. Day).

HADLOW DOWN’S “ANCIENT MONUMENT?”

Before we pass on to more modern times attention must be called
to a most interesting * moated site ’, probably quite unknown to most.
It is situated near the south-west boundary of the parish, a little to the
north-east of the Shepherd’s Hill group of buildings, being about one
acre of land surrounded by what has evidently been a twenty-foot
wide pentagonal moat, now much silted up.

Moats are invariably associated with large dwellings or.cast]es, ]Jut
not this one. It cannot have been used to protect buildings against
attack, for it is on relatively low-lying land and, therefore, not suitable
for a fortification. In 1930 a trench was dug right across it, but no
foundations were there, the only relics found being shards of pottery
with green glazed zigzag patterns on them. These were judged to be
of 13th century origin. [he Ministry of Public Buildings and Works
could give no explanation about the Moat. Sir Mortimer Wl}e‘eler, thp
eminent archzeologist, has, however, an ingenious suggestion that it
was a place of security for women and stock against attacks from
wolves when the men were away hunting. There are such moats else-
where.

It may be asked whether wolves were a menace in England as lat.e
as the 13th century. The medieval traveller certainly had to be on his
guard when his road ran through wooded country. As late as 1281
wolves and outlaws were classed as vermin when the Abbot of
Gloucester was licensed, as a measure of protection, to cut down cer-
tain woods. The old Wealden Forest was probably a good lurking
place for wolves until clearances were well advanced. The site cannot,
of course, be dated by those 13th century relics. It may well go back
to Anglo-Saxon times.

The Moat was scheduled as an Ancient Monument in 1968.
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The corner posts were made exceptionally strong, because to them
the heavy girder beams which were to support the upper storey were

fixed.

As time went on, the filling between the timbers shrank or decayed,
and tile-hanging was invented as weatherproofing. For the panels
brick might take the place of the wattle-and-daub, attractive herring-
bone patterns giving the bricks their opportunity. The tile-hanging, as
we now see it, is often deceptive in that there is concealed behind it
the original frame (Crowpits is a good sample). The framework which
has thus survived is a tribute to the excellence of local oak.

Hadlow Down timber-framed buildings are numerous. The Minis-

try of Housing and Local Government have picked four as being
worthy of statutory protection under the Town and Country Planning

Act, 1947. They are: —

BRROADREED FARMHOUSE—I6th century L-shaped. South
wing tile hung. Tiled roof.

COLES HALL—reputed date 1537, but probably somewhat later.

Panelled framing in four bays. On lower floor spaces between the
posts filled in with 18th century brickwork. On the upper storey plaster

COLES HALL
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infilling is used. Much timber still exposed. A good central chimney
of the rebated type. Internally, open timber ceilings on both floors.
Massive beams abound, all in excellent condition.

In all probability Coles Hall was the centre of a small settlement.

OLD CROUST—this is a most attractive  all of one period '’ house
in the parish. It is 16th century timber-framed, with plaster infilling.
Ground floor rebuilt in red brick. The position of the chimney and the
slope of the roof indicate that the existing structure formed a half of
a larger structure, say, a manorial hall. Internally are splendid ceiling
and wall timbers.

-

OILD CROUST

STOCKLANDS FARMHOUSE—late 16th or early 17th century.
Re-fronted on ground floor with red brick and grey headers. Doorway
with rudimentary pediment shaped hood over. Much attractive tim-
bering within.

In the foreground stands a magnificent old yew tree; perhaps as
old as the house, certainly the envy of any Church. At the rear is a
barn contemporary with the house.

The Ministry also has a “ supplemental List " which includes many
of our interesting structures. It includes—
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A GEORGIAN MASTERPIECE

o

.

THE_ETABLES, SHEPHERDS HILL, HADLOW DOWN

Shepherd’s Hill is dominated by its most distinguished G i
Stable, which, with its notable Privy, was built by Sir1 R?)bertegzlgg‘;z
of \l)leston in |f740}.1.The stﬁb]&was for his sixteen horses and a central
archway was for his coach. He never built his intended h 4
died in 1741. The old farmhouse adjoining lingIZrl:de:n.e B he

Sir Edward Maufe bought the property in 1926. He built a fore-
court to the Stables and planned that the Archway should lead up to

the house, which he created from the meagre farm buildings. The
whole now forms an arresting group of buildings.

ACTIVITIES IN THE EIGHTEENTH
AND NINETEENTH CENTURIES

During the eighteenth century the attractive tile-hung cottages

sprang up all over the district, and Hadlow Down has its fortunate
survivors.

Communication with th? outside world by means of surfaced roads
developed slowly. In medieval times the Lord of the Manor did his
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best (by forced labour) to keep some sort of a road. Sussex had a
notoriously bad record due to its dense Wealden forest. In these parts,
in particular, the products of the mineworkings and the haulage of the
big timber for the shipyards did special damage to the unmade tracks.
Nearly all travellers went by horseback; hence the numerous tracks
and trails which can still be traced.

Trevelyan says (English Social History) “ The subjects of Queen
Anne had great ships in which they sent heavy goods with ease to
America and India, but inside their own island they were still dispatch-
ing sacks of coal and hardware strapped to the sides of pack-horses
because wheeled traffic would have stuck in the mud and broken in
the ruts of English roads wherever their route crossed a pocket of
clay.” No effective highway authority, either local or central, having
emerged, the eighteenth century turned to private enterprise, and
Parliament granted to companies power to erect gates and toll bars
and to charge the users of the new roads a fee. There seemed to be
money in it, because between 1700 and 1790 no fewer than 2,000
turnpikes were authorised. Hadlow Down was rather late in the queue
—it had to wait until 1771 to get its special Act. The recital is interest-
ing—

3 “Whereas the road leading from the Turnpike Road from
Tunbridge Wells to Lewes, at a place called Hodges, in the
parish of Mayfield, over Hadley Down, through the several
parishes of Buxted, Maresfield, Fletching, Newick and Chailey
to a place called Beadles Hill, in the parish of Lindfield . . . . . .
are in a ruinous condition and in several places narrow and
dangerous so as to be impassable for carriages in winter, and
very incommodious for travellers at all seasons and cannot be
amended, widened, and kept in repair without the authority of
Parliament, may it therefore please your Majesty . . . . .. 5

[Note the spelling “ Hadley ']

Then follows a long list of Trustees authorised to carry out the
works, to erect toll gates and to charge fees. Some well known local
names appear—Allcorne, Baker, Day (Ansell and William), Fuller and

Chatfield.

The site of one of the toll gates can be fixed with precision. During
road widenings some years ago a massive wooden post was unearthed
close by the house called The Toll. This was evidently a portion of
the post to which the gate was fixed.

So Hadlow Down got its east to west connections straightened and
strengthend. It is of interest to record that the famous John Macadam
visited Lewes in 1817 to advise a group of turnpike trusts how best to
maintain their roads.

During all these happenings the village had no recognised separate

existence, and it was not until 1837 that it obtained its self-government.
Then a substantial portion of Mayfield, and a smaller part from Buxted,
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There is a local tradition that Old Boot Cottage was once an inn,
but documentary evidence has not been found. It is quite likely that
it was one of those unlicensed alehouses which in the old days used
to spring up and gain local favour. But they were a headache for the
authorities. The Mayfield Justices reported in 1630 that they had sup-
pressed 16 unlicensed alehouses.

The old English ale was not the kind of liquor now drunk. It was
weaker stuff, and had no hops to flavour it. Hops were not used in
this country until Henry the Eighth’s reign. It was one Deryk Carver
who, fleeing from the Spanish persecutions in Flanders, set up a
brewery in the fishing village of Brightelmstone (Brighton) and brewed
the hop-flavoured beer he had known in his fatherland. Over his
brewery stood proudly the Black Lion of Flanders. When you next
visit the Lanes in Brighton you can see the brewery, with the lion still
flashing its tail, and on a portion of the original wall a plaque

inscribed—
DERYK CARVER
First Protestant Martyr

Burned at Lewes, July 22, 1555,
Lived at this Brewery.

It is one of the ironies of History that to the man who transformed
the character of the old English ale, England, the great drinker of
beer, should have showed her gratitude by burning him.
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BADGERS

FEEDING YOUNG BADGERS

Let this little history have done with humans and turn to a special
feature of the animal life of the village.

On the south slopes of the Ridge there have for years been badger
setts. The most recent researchers have been the late Ernest Ashdown
and his wife, who have succeeded in hand-feeding badger cubs. The
photograph shows Mrs. Ashdown doing the feeding. The cubs were
quite indifferent to flashlight. They ate honey, biscuits, toasted brown
bread and apples, but nothing pleased them more than Maltesers !

May these ancient British mammals and their human neighbours
long dwell in peace together. Also, all will surely hope that smoking
furnaces and noisy hammers will not re-appear to disturb the peace
of the old ponds and coppices.
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HASTINGFORD FARMHOUSE—I7th century or earlier. The
timber framing is now covered in front by weather boarding. Sides
are brick and tiled.

HOLE FARMHOUSE—I6th century. Ground foor rebuilt in
brick. Plaster infilling above. The date of the structure can be fixed
precisely, as an iron plate with 1568 on it was found when the old
thatched roof was replaced by tiles.

HOPE (GILL HOPE) FARMHOUSE—17th century. Ground floor

red brick; above weather boarding. Recently modernised, and an
extension added at northern end. Much old timbering exposed. A
contemporary barn or granary adjoins.

HUGGETT’S FURNACE MILL FARMHOUSE—I6th century.

The date, 1576, is chiselled on a main timber support. Timber fram-

HUGGETT'S FURNACE MILL FARMHOUSE

ing now fronted with weather boarding. Cottage to the north, now
used as a shed, is probably 16th century. Internally, much old timber.

SWIFTS—original structure can be assigned to the 15th century.
Restored and altered. Close studding on ground floor; first floor tile
hung.

THE TOLL—16th century. Wings added on east and west. Orig-

inal portion in the centre now fronted on ground floor with red brick
and ashlar., Tiled above. Within are ceiling beams and open fireplaces.

17
WAGHORN’'S FARMHOUSE—main structure early 17th century,

but older timber has been incorporated within. The exterior has been
completely weatherboarded. Tall central chimney. Internally, massive
timbers have been carefully exposed.

WILDNERNESS FARMHOUSE (THE WILDERNESS). Largely
17th century, but there is a central portion which probably goes back

as far as the late 15th. Much old timber here. Externally, ground floor
is in brick, above, tiled. A Court Roll of 1547 refers to La Wylder-

nesse, and this may relate to the old section.

WOODREED FARMHOUSE—17th century. Red brick without.
Tiled roof. 18th century wing added to form L-shaped building.

There are, of course, other houses with old timber in them. The
modern facade of Hadlow House hides much old work, and Loudwell
Farm and Pigsfoot Farm are other examples.

This is a fine bequest from old times. Hadlow Down is a real Tudor
product. What an era it was. The Renaissance, with its glorious
Revival of Learning, was sweeping through Europe; here a Reforma-
tion was cleaning up a corrupt Church, while on the High Seas our
buccaneering forebears were having the time of their lives. What an
exciting time into which to be born !

A MISCELLANY

There have come down to us various documents in which Hadlow
Down appears. A few examples will be of interest.

Mention has been made of Subsidy Rolls. They were drawn up in
1296, 1327 and 1332, and contained the names of contributors to a tax
to pay for the wars with Scotland. They were levied on moveables,
instead of on land and property. This was probably intended to cast
a wider net to bring in the many who were not property owners on
the larger scale. The people affected in this area were—

Amount
Name Pre:zent
designation as:essgd
1296 Saer de Roseg Roser’'s Common 7 4
William of Dodesland Dudsland Farm 5 63
Ricro de Chillehop Gill Hope Farm Bt
Willmo de Haddelegh — 2 43
1327 Helewys atte Bissch Bish Wood 7 5%
Simon Cole Coles Hall 6
Henr’ de Dodeslonde Dudsland Farm 4 11
Isabella de Ludwelle Loudwell Farm I3
Willmo de Haddelegh — 2=
1332 Willo Bisschop Bish Wood 3 -
Thom’ atte Nasshe Nashes Farm 1 -
Symone atte Hole Hole Farm 2 2%
Henr' Dodesland Dudsland Farm 5 -
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ADDENDUM

Use has been made of the following—

The Place Names of Sussex (English Place Names Society);

Sussex Record Society volumes | to 14;

Wealden Iron (Straker). The standard work on the subject. New edi-
tion, 1969;

Framed Buildings of the Weald (R. T. Mason);
The English Farmhouse (A Batsford book);
Trevelyan's English Social History;

English Life in the Middle Ages (Salzman);
Mayfield Parish Records.

On the personal side | am indebted to—

Mr. C. G. Holland, County Archivist, for the willing help given by
him and his staff;

Sir Edward Maufe, R.A., for his many helpful suggestions;
Mrs. Joy Ashdown, who so willingly took most of the photographs;
The late Miss Sands and to Mr. George Standen for their long

memories;
And to my wife for encouragement always given in this and my other
small historical efforts.

F. T. B.

Wilderness Lane,

Hadlow Down.
April, 1970.
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were made into a separate parish. The population of this new area
was 1,066 at the 1851 census. It remained around the 1,000 mark at the
last census, so numbers have changed but little.

No attempt seems to have been made to ensure that the civil and
ecclesiastical boundaries should coincide.

CHURCH AND CHAPEL

Before Hadlow Down had a church of its own villagers had to rely
on either Buxted or Mayfield for their spiritual needs. It was a builder,
Henry Smith, the owner of “Hyders'® and a Wesleyan, who was so
perturbed by this lack of the means of worship that in 1824 he himself
built a small chapel which functioned for many years.

The Established Church came on the scene in 1835, when the Earl
and Countess De La Warr gave land for a church, vicarage and school.
Lord Liverpool, who was then Prime Minister and lived at Buxted
Park, contributed one hundred pounds. The church was consecrated
on 6th May, 1836. An Order in Council of 2Ist June, 1837, provided
for a consolidated chapelry, taken from the parishes of Mayfield and
Buxted, to be assigned to St. Mark’s Chapel. In those early days there
was no organ in the church but Jack Wren, of Blackboys, played the
bass viol, his son the bassoon and Walter Bean the clarionet.

The school seems to have started well. “I went to school at Had-
low Down. Mr. Edwards was our clergyman and Cripple Wood, as
we called our one-legged teacher, was the schoolmaster. He taught us
very well. . . . We paid one penny each a week for our schooling,
and before winter every boy had a strong smock frock given him and
every girl a red cloak, besides stockings”. So said Horace Head, of
Five Ashes (about 1840).

Early in this century the 1836 church was pulled down and the pre-
sent attractive one erected on the old foundations, with an extended
chapel. The architect was Fellowes-Prynne. It was consecrated on
25th October, 1913. The “Sentence of Consecration’’ stated that the
rebuilding was “at the entire expense in all things of Charles Lang
Huggins, Esquire, of Hadlow Grange ™

A larger chapel than the 1824 building became necessary for the
Nonconformists, and in 1849 the present building was erected in the
main street. [t has a well-proportioned, dignified fagade.

INNS

“As well for the body as the soul ”’, says the Prayer Book on such
matters as are “requisite and necessary” for our well-being. So with
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church and chapel the village inn must take its place in the community.

It did so, in fact, long before the church appeared. The oldest inn was

certainly the “ Spotted Cow ’’ in the lane named after it. It served its

last drinks in 1900, and probably went back a full 300 years, old

enough to have supplied refreshments to the ironworkers at How-

bourne Forge. The old inn has now been made part of an attractive

modern residence. The wide open fireplace, with chimney up which

one can look into the sky, and the massive crossbeam of oak as hard

as iron are well preserved. Outside, the old connection is commemor-

ated by a sign showing a white cow with black spots and bearing the
intriguing title “ The Vatch ™.

At Loudwell, in Tinker's Lane, there was

. at one time an ale house famed for its home-

brewed. The old signpost was dug up in 1969.

In the main road there were two inns. The

present “New Inn "’ stands on the site of an

older inn—a substantial building of no great

antiquity, as the photograph shows. The old

inn also had the name “New Inn” according

to the Post Officec Directory of 1855. The

present “The Haven’ (200 years old) was

also an inn, named “The Stonemason’s

Arms’’. In the mid 1880s the old “New Inn"’

was burned down. The bailiffs were in taking

away belongings, and rumour had it that the

fire was started deliberately. On the rebuild-

ing, in the form known to us. the licence of “ The Stonemason’s Arms”

was extinguished.

THE ORIGINAL NEW INN
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